FILED
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington
2/5/2025 4:44 PM

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/6/2025
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No.
Court of Appeals No. 39032-2-III Case #: 1038534

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,
Respondent,

v.

LANCE BOWERS,
Petitioner.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR
OKANOGAN COUNTY

Petition for Review

GREGORY C. LINK
Attorney for the Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT
1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 587-2711

A. Introduction

Lance Bowers asks this Court to accept review of the opinion in *State v. Bowers*, 39032-2-III.

B. Opinion Below

Mr. Bowers challenged the lack of evidence establishing he committed first degree murder. Mr. Bowers argued the prosecutor's repeated, flagrant and ill-intentioned comments violated his constitutional rights. And Mr. Bowers argued the trial court's jury instructions misstated the elements of the crimes.

The Court of Appeals refused to address the lack of evidence supporting the murder conviction. The court applied an improper standard to conclude the prosecutor's constitutional violations did not require a new trial. Finally, the court found the jury instructions adequate, but only by excising the portions which misstated and confused the elements.

C. Issues Presented

1. The evidence established both Lance and his brother, Joe Bowers, were present in the home when Angela Bowers was shot. There is no evidence who killed Angela or whether that person acted with premeditated intent. The Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause requires reversal of Mr. Bower's conviction. But rather than do so, the Court of Appeals refused to address the issue faulting Mr. Bowers for failing to designate every exhibit offered at trial. The court did this despite the fact the parties agree those exhibits do not offer any direct evidence of the killing.

2. Jury instructions in criminal cases must make the law manifestly clear to the jury. Instructions 28 and 29 regarding two assault charges misstate the elements of those offenses. Employing an analysis which largely ignores the misstatements and conflicts

in the instructions, the Court of Appeals affirmed the convictions.

3. In opening and closing arguments the State repeatedly referred to the fact that Mr. Bowers made no statements after his arrest, suggesting and flatly stated his silence “corroborated” his guilt. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded these repeated, flagrant and ill-intentioned statements violated Mr. Bowers’s constitutional rights. But employing an incorrect standard of prejudice, the Court of Appeals nonetheless affirmed Mr. Bowers’s conviction.

D. Statement of the Case

During the early summer of 2019, Mr. Bowers and his wife Angela were occasionally staying with Mr. Bowers’s mother, Sharon Alumbaugh, and his step-father Roger Alumbaugh. RP 1997-1999. Roger and Sharon left for a weekend trip. RP 2015, 2449. They

told Angela and Mr. Bowers they did not want Sharon's other son, Joe, in the home. RP 2018. Multiple court orders barred Joe from entering their property. RP 2117, 2124.

Roger had seven video cameras placed on the outside of the house. The security cameras show Angela at the Alumbaugh residence on Sunday morning at 5:09 a.m. RP 2343. At 5:20 a.m. Joe and Mr. Bowers arrived at the residence. RP 2343. At 5:59 a.m. all the security cameras turned off. RP 2345.

Roger and Sharon returned that evening. RP 2019. Roger said that on their return Mr. Bowers was doing laundry and the house was "kind of trashed." *Id.* Angela was not there. RP 2028. They found the cameras had been turned off. RP 2022.

Subsequently Roger provided videos for the entire weekend to police. RP 2066. According to Roger, the timestamps on the videos were accurate. RP 2099.

The next day, someone saw Mr. Bowers on a nearby road by a broken down car. RP 1049-51, 1095, 1102. He appeared to be working on the car. RP 1080-81. Shortly the car caught fire. RP 1052, 1235. During the fire, observers heard explosions, like aerosol cans were in the car and exploded from the heat. RP 1239. Mr. Bowers was observed walking away from the car. RP 1055-56.

Firefighters responded to the scene to extinguish the fire. RP 1241. Witnesses testified to seeing a body in the burning trunk. RP 1065, 1241, 1515. Because of that observation, the police were called. RP 1244-45, 1696-97. The body was identified as Angela.

Soon thereafter Mr. Bowers was seen outside the Aeneas Valley County Store. RP 1323-41. The store owner called police. RP 1341. Two Sheriff's deputies drove up. RP 1352. Deputy Everett arrived first with his dog. RP 1525. Deputy Holloway arrived second. RP 1526. The two stood behind two open doors on Everett's vehicle. RP 1529. Mr. Bowers turned his back on the deputies and then turned back towards them. RP 1354. He was about 20 yards from the police. RP 1537.

Deputy Everett said he got out of his car with his gun drawn. RP 1526. He yelled at Mr. Bowers and Mr. Bowers "turned sideways to me" and put "both hands in his pockets." RP 1526. Everett testified that he told Mr. Bowers several times to take his hands out of his pockets. RP 1530-31. Mr. Bowers did not respond. RP 1531.

Everett got his dog out of the car in an effort to get Mr. Bowers to comply. RP 1532. He told Mr. Bowers to show his hands or he would unleash the dog. RP 1537. Mr. Bowers took his left hand out of his pocket and pointed at the sky. *Id.* Everett directed his dog to attack Mr. Bowers. RP 1540.

According to Everett as the dog approached Mr. Bowers, he saw Mr. Bowers reaching into his pocket with his right hand. RP 1569. The dog took 4 seconds to reach Mr. Bowers. RP 1577. When the dog was virtually on top of Mr. Bowers, Everett said he could see what he believed was part of a revolver in Mr. Bowers pocket. RP 1622-23, 1569. Everett admitted that he had no idea what was going through Mr. Bowers mind. RP 1623. He yelled “gun” and fired six shots as the dog attacked Mr. Bowers. RP 1577-81. Everett took care not to shoot the dog. RP 1627.

Deputy Everett testified he did not remember Mr. Bowers with the revolver directly in front of him. RP 1577.

Deputy Holloway contradicted Everett. He claimed Mr. Bowers drew the gun before the dog approached. RP 1784. Holloway fired three times. RP 1813.

Mr. Bowers was shot twice, in his shoulder and in his back, and airlifted to a hospital with life threatening injuries. RP 1445-1493, 1628. A firearm was found near Mr. Bowers after he collapsed. RP 1561.

The coroner recovered two bullets from Angela's body. RP 2323. The police determined the burning car was registered to Mr. Bowers and his mother, Sharon Alumbaugh. RP 1879. The State presented evidence the gun seized after Mr. Bowers was shot by the police

was an Iver Johnson revolver. RP 2571. The State also presented evidence the bullets recovered from Angela were the same weight as those in the revolver. RP 2578-79, 2681-83. One of the bullets killed Angela but the pathologist could not say which one. RP 2687-91.

Mr. Bowers was charged with premeditated first degree murder, two counts of first degree assault, reckless burning, and unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 295-96. While the prosecution initially charged Joe as well, those charges were dropped. RP 2640-42

The investigating detective testified he spent several days reviewing all the available video footage “from beginning to end.” RP 2222-23. The detective testified he noted where the important events appeared in these hours of videos: “when Angela is first seen in the video; when Lance was first seen; when Joe was first seen; when the car left; when Angela was last

seen. And then until the video cameras went dark, about 6:00 a.m.” RP 2228. The detective did not identify any video of the killing itself.

The prosecutor admitted to the jury, “We don’t know where Angela was when she was shot . . . we don’t know where it happened in the house with direct evidence.” RP 2832. The prosecutor acknowledged they did not know what Mr. Bowers or his brother did regarding the killing or how it happened. RP 2866. But the prosecutor insisted Mr. Bowers, not his brother, committed the murder. RP 2867.

Recognizing their lack of actual evidence of who killed Angela, the prosecutor took a different tack; faulting Mr. Bowers for failing to come forward with evidence.

The prosecutor told jurors, “Defense Counsel argues at length that apparently his brother killed

Angela. What evidence did he provide to you? Say something. One thing.” RP 2919. The prosecutor faulted Mr. Bowers saying “if we’re to believe this story, his brother kills his wife. He doesn’t call the police.” RP 2922. The prosecutor continued, faulting Mr. Bowers asking “Why didn’t he call the police? Why didn’t he run toward the police?” RP 2920-21.

The prosecutor’s strategy worked, the jury convicted Mr. Bowers.

E. Argument

1. *The Court of Appeals’s refusal to address the lack of evidence supporting Mr. Bowers’s murder conviction requires review by this Court.*

The Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause requires the prosecution prove each element of the charged crimes case against Mr. Bowers beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979). The

prosecution meets that burden only if, viewed in the light most favorable to the prosecution, the evidence permits a rational trier of fact to find each essential element of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.*; *State v. Green*, 94 Wn.2d 216, 219, 616 P.2d 628 (1980).

The State charged Mr. Bowers with premeditated murder. RCW 9A.32.030(1)(a); CP 295. But the prosecution offered no evidence Mr. Bowers fired the shots that killed Angela. Without that evidence no rational trier of fact could conclude Mr. Bowers killed, much less, premeditated the killing, of Angela.

The State's theory – argued to the jury - was that Mr. Bowers killed Angela in the early morning hours of when both he and Joe were present. The investigating officer testified he believed Angela was killed between 5 and 6 a.m. that Sunday morning. RP 2413, 2434. He investigated both Joseph and Mr. Bowers as

perpetrators. RP 2440. Joe Bowers was twice charged with Angela's murder but both cases were later dismissed. RP 2640-42. Joe was never tried.

In closing the State argued Mr. Bowers killed Angela assisted by Joe. RP 292. But the prosecutor admitted: "We don't know where Angela was when she was shot . . . we don't know where it happened in the house with direct evidence." RP 2832. The prosecution left out of their admission they also did not know *who* killed Angela. Still, the prosecution argued "Mr. Bowers recruited his brother to help because he did not want to do this by himself." RP 2866. But the prosecutor also said: "Now how much more involvement does Joe have? We don't know, but he doesn't have -- even have the gun; he doesn't have the body; he doesn't have any of the other stuff. But it's more than likely that Joe was involved." RP 2867.

There was no evidence Mr. Bowers shot Angela. There was no direct or circumstantial evidence he recruited his brother to help *him*. It is not enough to prove that Mr. Bowers was in the home when Angela was killed. The State had to prove Mr. Bowers pulled the trigger. But it was just as likely Joe killed Angela.

This is particularly true in a case where the State must prove premeditation. The evidence required to prove premeditation has been diluted under Washington law. But the charge still requires “the deliberate formation of and reflection upon the intent to take a human life’ and involves the mental process of thinking beforehand, deliberation, reflection, weighing, or reasoning for a period of time, however short.” *State v. Pirtle*, 127 Wn.2d 628, 644, 904 P.2d 245 (1995) (cleaned up).

The prosecution's theory was that because Angela's body contained two bullets, there was time for the killer to "reflect." But that begs the question of who was the killer. Absent evidence it was Mr. Bowers who fired both shots, the prosecution did not prove he premeditated murder.

Because the prosecution did not prove Mr. Bowers killed Angela, his conviction for murder must be reversed and dismissed.

Rather than recognize the wholesale lack of evidence required reversal, the Court of Appeals refused to address this issue at all. The opinion refuses to address the claim reasoning Mr. Bowers has not presented an adequate record to permit the court to do so. Opinion at 24. The court reasoned the Rules of Appellate Procedure impliedly, but certainly not expressly, require a person challenging the lack of

sufficient evidence to designate most if not all the exhibits from the trial court. Opinion at 24.

First, as the Opinion itself recognizes, no rule required Mr. Bowers designate all exhibits. *Id.* (citing RAP 9.6). Indeed, the court rules direct a party “designate only clerk’s papers and exhibits needed to review the issues presented to the appellate court.” RAP 9.6(a). And the rules discourage duplication, directing that “material appearing in one part of the record on review should not be duplicated in another part of the record on review.” RAP 9.1(d).

The detective testified at trial he spent several days reviewing all the available video footage “from beginning to end.” RP 2222-23. The detective noted where the important events appeared in these hours of videos: “when Angela is first seen in the video; when Lance was first seen; when Joe was first seen; when

the car left; when Angela was last seen. And then until the video cameras went dark, about 6:00 a.m.” RP 2228. Notably absent from that list of important events is the murder itself. Instead, the “cameras went dark.”

There is nothing inadequate about the record here. It is complete. Three people went into the house and two people left. That is undisputed by either party. As the prosecutors brief concedes “[t]he cameras stopped recording at 5:46 a.m. on June 2, and resumed at 6:12 p.m. that evening.” Brief of Respondent at 22 (citing RP 2345). Or in the words of one of the investigating detectives, “the cameras went dark about 6:00 a.m.” RP 2228. And as the prosecutor told the jury “We don’t know where Angela was when she was shot . . . we don’t know where it happened in the house with direct evidence.” RP 2832. It is undisputed there is no direct evidence, including video and screenshots, of

who shot Angela Bowers or if the act was premeditated.

But the court's opinion says, "[t]he video footage provided key evidence as to the guilt or innocence of [Mr.] Bowers." Opinion at 25. The opinion suggests as a "matter of reason" Mr. Bowers was required to provide these exhibits. Opinion at 24. As a matter of reason that is not the case.

If these exhibits were in fact "key evidence" the State would have certainly highlighted it in its closing argument. If they were key evidence, there is no explanation of why the prosecutor would not have themselves designated these exhibits. "[A]ny party may supplement the designation of clerk's papers and exhibits prior to or with the filing of the party's last brief." RAP 9.6(a). Even then, either party may seek permission of the court to later supplement the record.

Id. That the prosecutor has never relied on these exhibits in its brief belies any notion these exhibits were “key” to its case. And if they were key evidence, the prosecutor would not have told the jury there was no “direct evidence” of the murder. RP 2832.

Instead, the absence of any direct evidence, much less video evidence, is why the prosecution begins its brief discussing extensively about what happened **after** Angela died. Brief of Respondent 10-19. It is why the prosecution based its case, both at trial and on appeal, on Mr. Bowers’s supposed consciousness of guilt. It is why the prosecutor felt compelled in closing to improperly comment on Mr. Bowers’s silence and Mr. Bowers’s failure to present evidence. RP 2919-22. None of that would be so if the video or photographic evidence were “key evidence” of who killed Angela.

After all that, RAP 9.10 says a court will not ordinarily dismiss an appeal or refuse to address an issue based on inadequacies in the record so long as the parties have acted in good faith. Instead, that rule provides a court “may, on its own initiative or on the motion of a party . . . direct the transmittal of additional clerk's papers and exhibits” *Id.*

Here, as the parties agree, the question before the Court of Appeals was whether the evidence before it was sufficient to establish Mr. Bowers murdered his wife with premeditated intent. The parties have transmitted all the record they believe necessary for review of the claims as required by the rule. As directed by RAP 9.6(a), neither party has designated all of the exhibits, just those necessary for review of the claims. If a court believes additional materials are necessary, RAP 9.10 outlines the proper approach.

Rather than refuse to address the claim, the court should have simply directed Mr. Bowers designate those exhibits.

The Court of Appeals was right to be concerned about the absence of evidence in the record. The Court of Appeals was correct to question the evidence before it. But the lack of evidence is not some failing of Mr. Bowers's. Nothing is missing. This is it; there is no smoking gun. The paucity of the evidence before the court is simply a reflection of the lack of evidence at trial. It is because the State did not offer evidence at trial that proves Mr. Bowers murdered his wife or that he did it with premeditation.

The Court of Appeals's refusal to address this claim allows an unconstitutional conviction to persist. The refusal to engage in the court's constitutional obligation ignores the appellate rules themselves. That

refusal presents a significant constitutional issue and substantial issue of public interest meriting review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b).

2. The prosecution's repeated, flagrant, and ill-intentioned comments on Mr. Bower's right to silence require a new and fair trial.

The Court of Appeals recognized the prosecutor improperly commented on Mr. Bowers's Fifth Amendment right to remain silent. ●pinion at 35-36. Specifically when the prosecutor asked jurors "What evidence did he provide to you? Say something. ●ne thing." RP 2919. And again when the prosecutor faulted Mr. Bowers for not providing evidence, asking "How many opportunities did he have to say his brother, not him, killed Angela?" RP 2920-21. The court recognized these constitutional violations were flagrant and ill-intentioned. ●pinion at 39.

Where a prosecutor commits such misconduct, commenting on a person's Fifth Amendment right, the prosecution must prove beyond a reasonable doubt those constitutional violations "did not contribute" to the jury's verdict. *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 26, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967).

But rather than employ *Chapman* standard and require the State prove the errors harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, the court required Mr. Bowers to demonstrate the prejudice. The court denied Mr. Bowers a new and fair trial because "in the end, the *defendant* must show the prosecutorial misconduct resulted in enduring prejudice." Opinion at 41 (Emphasis added).

Not once does the Court cite to *Chapman* never mind hold the State to its burden of proving the misconduct did not contribute to the verdict. And while

the court adds a concluding paragraph stating it has applied “the constitutional standard,” Opinion at 43, it did not. To start with, the constitutional standard does not permit the court to require Mr. Bowers to demonstrate the error prejudiced him. Yet the Court of Appeals did just that. Opinion at 41.

Importantly, when applying *Chapman*, it is not enough that a court conclude a hypothetical jury could have found Mr. Bowers guilty despite the constitutional violations. The inquiry under *Chapman* is whether the violation “contributed” to the verdict. *Chapman*, 386 U.S. at 26. Harmless error analysis is not merely a review of the sufficiency of the evidence of guilt. *State v. Gunderson*, 181 Wn.2d 916, 926, 337 P.3d 1090 (2014). Instead, the prosecution must prove the jury in this case would have reached the same verdict absent the error. *Neder v. United States*, 527

U.S. 1, 18, 119 S. Ct. 1827, 1838, 144 L. Ed. 2d 35 (1999). The court never asked that question.

The prejudice of this misconduct is directly related to the wholesale lack of evidence of who killed Angela. The prosecutor attempted to fill that hole by focusing on what Mr. Bowers did after Angela died. In particular, the prosecutor focused on Mr. Bowers's silence throughout the case.

As the Court of Appeals recognized, this was not inadvertent. It was flagrant and ill-intentioned. It was the prosecution's trial strategy. It began with the prosecution's opening statement when the prosecution told the jury they could use Mr. Bowers' silence as corroborating evidence of guilt. It continued through trial to closing argument where the prosecutor made extensive, strongly-worded argument suggesting a connection between Mr. Bower's silence and his guilt.

The prosecutor made repeated references to Mr. Bowers's silence, emphasizing his failure to go to the police and name Joe in both opening and closing argument.

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