# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/5/2025 4:36 PM BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

NO. 1038534

### THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

LANCE BOWERS,

Petitioner

### APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR OKANOGAN COUNTY

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ALBERT LIN
Okanogan County Prosecuting Attorney

THOMAS C. PAYNTER
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorneys for Respondent

Okanogan County Prosecuting Attorney 237 Fourth Avenue North Okanogan, Washington 98840-1130 (509) 422-7280 FAX (509) 422-7290

### **

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

- II. The prosecutor's comments on Bowers' silence were proper, and any error was harmless.
  - A. The prosecutor's remarks were proper comments on pre-arrest silence.
    - 1. The first remark the court found improper was directed at defense counsel's argument, not Bowers' silence.

The Court of Appeals erred by holding that the prosecutor committed misconduct. The court correctly acknowledged that the law permits the State to comment on the defendant's pre-arrest silence. Opinion at 30. The court, however, erroneously held that two of the prosecutor's remarks were comments on Bowers' post-arrest silence. "[A] comment violates a defendant's right to remain silent if it is of such character that the jury would naturally and necessarily accept it as a comment on the defendant's failure to testify." *State v. French*, 101 Wash. App. 380, 389, 4 P.3d 857 (2000) (internal quotation marks omitted, citing *State v. Fiallo–Lopez*, 78 Wash.App.

717, 729, 899 P.2d 1294 (1995) and *State v. Ramirez*, 49 Wash.App. 332, 336, 742 P.2d 726 (1987)).

An examination of the State's remarks in context shows that they pertained only to pre-arrest silence. The first remark the court held was misconduct was:

Let's talk about the murder. Defense Counsel argues at length that apparently his brother killed Angela. What evidence did he provide to you? Say something. One thing. The fact that he was there?

(Opinion at 33, emphasis in Opinion.) But in context, the State was referring to defense counsel's failure to provide evidence, not Bowers' silence. The key to understanding this is tracking the referent for the State's various uses of the pronouns *he/his*. When those referents are made explicit, it becomes clear that the State did not refer to Bowers' silence:

Let's talk about the murder. Defense Counsel argues at length that apparently [Bowers'] brother killed Angela. What evidence did [defense counsel] provide to you? Say something. One thing. The fact that [Joe] was there?

RP 2919 (bracketed language added]. This is the only logical way to understand these referents. In context "his brother" can only mean "Bowers' brother". The last "he" must refer to Joe; defense counsel was not there, and the fact that Bowers was there would not tend to establish that Joe killed Angela. As to the key phrase "What evidence *did he provide* to you", the "he" refers to defense counsel. The topic of the paragraph is defense counsel's argument. The argument was that defense counsel argued that Joe killed Angela, and defense counsel failed to provide evidence other than Joe's presence.

The next paragraph of the State's argument confirms this reading:

[Defense counsel] claims [Joe's] this crazy man. And yet this crazy man came over -- apparently at the invite of the Defendant because [Joe] was allowed to stay. You didn't see any problems between Joe and Angela. There isn't one piece of evidence -- other than the fact that [Joe's] there -- that Joe did anything to Angela. [Joe's] not even there after that – [Joe's] just gone; [Joe's] not involved in any of this.

RP 2919 (bracketed language added). This is the only plausible interpretation of this passage. The key line is the first line: "He claims he's this crazy man." Who claimed Joe was a "crazy man"? Not Bowers; Bowers did not testify and no statement from him about Joe was admitted. The prosecutor was asserting that defense counsel claimed Joe was "this crazy man." This was an accurate description of defense counsel's argument: "[I]n this case, we have a crazy, violent person -- his name is Joseph Bowers." RP at 2898.

It is plain from the paragraph the Court of Appeals focused on, and the paragraph following, that the prosecutor was making a proper argument about defense counsel's failure to point, in his closing argument, to any evidence that Joe killed Angela. Stripped to its essentials the State's argument was:

Defense Counsel argues at length that apparently [Bowers'] brother killed Angela. What evidence did

[defense counsel] provide to you? [...] [Defense counsel] claims [Joe's] this crazy man....

RP 2919 (Bracketed language added]. This was proper argument directed at the lack of evidence for the defense's theory of the case—a subject the State is free to comment upon. *State v. Jackson*, 150 Wn. App. 877, 885-86, 209 P.3d 553 (2009); *State v Russell*, 125 Wn.2d 24, 87, 882 P.2d 747 (1994); *State v. Osman*, 192 Wn. App. 355, 367, 366 P.3d 956 (2016).

This Court should not suppose that the jury may have misunderstood the State's argument as pertaining to post-arrest silence or testimony at trial. "The jury is a 'presumptively rational factfinder,' *Ulster County Court*, 442 U.S. at 157, 99 S.Ct. at 2224, and it will be deemed to have acted rationally unless the record shows to the contrary." *State v. Delmarter*, 68 Wash. App. 770, 777,

845 P.2d 1340 (1993).<sup>1</sup> "This court will not willingly assume that the jury did not fairly and objectively consider the evidence and the contentions of the parties relative to the issues before it." *State v. O'Connell*, 83 Wash. 2d 797, 839, 523 P.2d 872 (1974) (citation omitted). Even if it were possible for the jury to have misunderstood the State's remarks as referring to Bowers' decision not to testify, it cannot be said that the jury would "naturally and necessarily" have misunderstood the remarks that way, as *French*, 101 Wash. App. at 389, and the cases cited therein require.

Here, the State's argument was proper, and the record does not show that the jury did not understand it. Indeed, the prosecutor's argument would have been clearer to the jury, which had the benefit of his tone of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Citing *Cnty. Ct. of Ulster Cnty., N. Y. v. Allen*, 442 U.S. 140, 157, 99 S. Ct. 2213, 2225, 60 L. Ed. 2d 777 (1979).

voice, body language and gestures, etc., than it is from the cold record. See State v. Perez-Valdez, 172 Wash.

2d 808, 819, 265 P.3d 853 (2011). The State made this remark in rebuttal and the remark was plainly directed at holes in the argument defense counsel had just made.

Court of Appeals erred in holding that this remark somehow commented on Bowers' silence, let alone that it did so in a flagrant and ill-intentioned way.

2. The court's holding that the second remark was improper depends on a significant misquotation of the record.

The second remark the court held was misconduct (Opinion at 34) was:

[W]hy at any point didn't the Defendant call the police? . . .

How many opportunities did he have to say his brother, not him, killed Angela? . . .

Why didn't he call the police?

(Emphasis added.) The italicized sentence seriously misquotes the record, changing the meaning of the

prosecutor's remarks. What the prosecutor said, in context, was:

[W]hy at any point didn't the Defendant call the police? I mean, at some point it got to a point where -- I mean, if he's truly covering for his brother, which is ridiculous -- at some point he has to say the gig's up, right?

How many opportunities did he have? He had the opportunity when his car broke down; the fire department came; the police responded to the scene. He could have stayed there, but he didn't. The police responded to the store. He could have told them -- look, okay, I didn't -- look, here's the truth, folks; here's the truth. I -- I admit I set the car on fire or whatever, but here's what really happened. None of that happened.

Why didn't he call the police? Why didn't he run toward the police? Why didn't he place his hands in the air when the police arrived?

RP 2920-21 (emphasis added). Contrary to the court's misquotation of the record, *at no point* did the prosecutor

say, "How many opportunities did he have to say his brother, not him, killed Angela?"<sup>2</sup>

This misapprehension of the record is extremely significant. The court reasoned that this remark:

...implicates both a time before and after Bowers' arrest. A reasonable listener to the rhetorical question would conclude that the State sought to incriminate Bowers for not, after his arrest, identifying his brother as the killer to law enforcement. [...]

Counsel questioned how many opportunities Bowers had available to cast guilt on his brother, and, again, counsel did not limit these opportunities to an interval before incarceration.

Opinion at 34-35. The State's remark about opportunities, however, was not about opportunities to identify "his brother as the killer", as the court said. The State's remark about opportunities was explicitly referring

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The Court did quote these remarks accurately and in context in its summary of the trial. Opinion at 18-19.

to opportunities to call the police or otherwise speak with police before his arrest.

The State's remarks began, "[W]hy at any point didn't the Defendant call the police?" The State then asked, "How many opportunities did he have [to call police]?" As the Court of Appeals recognized, calling police is something one does before incarceration, not after.<sup>3</sup> Opinion at 34. The State continued by explicitly listing opportunities Bowers had to call or speak with police before his arrest: "He had the opportunity when his car broke down; the fire department came; the police responded to the scene. He could have stayed there, but he didn't." The State went on, "The police responded to the store. He could have told them -- look, okay, I didn't -look, here's the truth, folks; here's the truth. I -- I admit I

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> "Only Shannon Denton telephones the police while in police custody." Opinion at 34, referring to *State v. Denton*, 58 Wn. App. 251, 792 P.2d 537 (1990).

set the car on fire or whatever, but here's what really happened." Again, this suggests that Bowers had an opportunity to speak with police when they arrived in the area of the store and contacted him—still during the interval before incarceration. The State went on to list other opportunities Bowers had to speak with police or otherwise cooperate: "Why didn't he call the police? Why didn't he run toward the police? Why didn't he place his hands in the air when the police arrived?" Each of these are pre-arrest opportunities.

This record suggests that the prosecutor understood the line between commenting on pre-arrest and post-arrest silence. He carefully avoiding implicating Bowers' right to remain silent while in custody by limiting his remarks to the interval before Bowers was placed under formal arrest, i.e., the interval between when "his car broke down" and "when the police arrived".

In determining whether the State committed flagrant and ill-intentioned misconduct, this Court should consider only what the prosecutor actually said, not what a confused or inattentive juror might have misunderstood the prosecutor to have said. Nothing in the State's remarks "naturally and necessarily" referred to post-arrest silence. *French*, 101 Wash. App. at 389. The State's remarks were proper.

## B. Bowers' argument that the court did not apply the correct harmless error is frivolous.

Bowers argues that the Court of Appeals did not apply the constitutional harmless error standard, because the court required Bowers to "show the prosecutorial misconduct resulted in enduring prejudice," did not cite to *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 26, 87 S. Ct. 824, 17 L. Ed. 2d 705 (1967), and did not "hold the State to its burden of proving the misconduct did not contribute to the verdict." Petition at 23. Bowers, however, erroneously

conflates the court's analysis of the waiver question,
where the defense does bear the burden of showing
prejudice, with the court's analysis of harmless error,
where the court explicitly found that the State's remarks
were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

The court's remark about Bowers' burden to show enduring prejudice was in the court's analysis of waiver:

Remember that, in the end, the defendant must show the prosecutorial misconduct resulted in enduring prejudice, if counsel raised no objection. To repeat, the rule of prosecutorial misconduct applied when there is a failure to object is often phrased as requiring the defendant to demonstrate that the prosecutor's remark was so flagrant and illintentioned that no curative instruction would have been capable of neutralizing the resulting prejudice.

Opinion at 41 (emphasis added). The references to the defense's failure to object make it plain that the court is discussing waiver. When it came to harmless error, the court explicitly applied the constitutional standard:

A constitutional error is harmless only if the reviewing court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would reach the

same result absent the error and when the untainted evidence is so overwhelming it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt. *State v. Burke*, 163 Wn.2d 204, 222 (2008). For the reasons already stated, we are convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that the comments on Bowers' silence did not impact the jury verdict.

Opinion at 43. Bowers is correct that the court did not cite *Chapman,* but the court properly cited authority from this Court stating the constitutional harmless error standard: "A constitutional error is harmless only if the reviewing court is convinced beyond a reasonable doubt that any reasonable jury would reach the same result absent the error and where the untainted evidence is so overwhelming it necessarily leads to a finding of guilt." *State v. Burke,* 163 Wash. 2d 204, 222, 181 P.3d 1 (2008). Bowers' argument, which ignores the plain

language in the opinion applying the constitutional harmless error standard, is frivolous.<sup>4</sup>

### C. Is the finding of harmlessness appropriate for review under RAP 13.4(b)?

Bowers' only argument for review of the court's holding that the error was harmless is: "The court's misapplication of the constitutional standard merits review by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)." Petition at 27. As seen above, this argument is frivolous, as the court explicitly applied the correct standard. Thus, Bowers has failed to show that the Opinion's holding that the prosecutor's remarks were harmless conflicts with any Washington case law, presents a significant question of constitutional law, or presents an issue of substantial public interest, as required by RAP 13.4(b). Instead, the issue of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> "A frivolous position is one that a lawyer of ordinary competence would recognize as lacking in merit." *In re Disciplinary Proceeding Against Jones*, 182 Wash. 2d 17, 41, 338 P.3d 842, 854 (2014)

harmlessness is a factual question: was the evidence of Bowers' guilt overwhelming? Opinion at 42. This Court should deny review.

### D. Because the evidence was overwhelming, any error was harmless merit.

Should this Court grant review, it should hold that for the reasons stated in the Opinion and in the Brief of Appellant below (at 27-36), the evidence here was overwhelming. The court correctly held that the prosecutor's remarks were harmless beyond a reasonable doubt

# III. The jury instruction issue does not present a significant question of constitutional law and so is not reviewable.

Bowers argues that the jury instruction issue is reviewable under RAP 13.4(b) because the instructions were "constitutionally inadequate". Petition at 35. As with the insufficient record issue, however, it is not enough that an issue touches on a constitutional right. The issue

must present a significant question of constitutional law to warrant review under RAP 13.4(b). Bowers fails to articulate what significant question of constitutional law this Court would be answering if it reviewed the issue. Resolution of this issue depends on parsing the particular instructions to determine whether they informed the jury of the applicable law and were not misleading. The issue presents no significant question of constitutional law and so is not reviewable.<sup>5</sup>

As to the merits of the issue, the State relies on its briefing below and the Opinion of the Court of Appeals.

### CONCLUSION

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Bowers did not object to the instructions at trial. Should this Court determine that the instructions were erroneous, it must then consider whether the this amounted to manifest error affecting a constitutional right, and whether the error was harmless—questions the Court of Appeals saw no need to reach. Opinion at 26; Brief of Appellant 60-81.

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should deny the Petition.

This document contains 5000 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.